2004

K. J. and Ruth Achter; et al. v. The Utah Department of Transportation, and agency of the State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

INTRODUCTION

The named Plaintiffs and Appellants in this case (hereafter "Appellants"), all property owners along the expanded Highway 89 corridor between Farmington and South Ogden, were compelled to file suit before the trial court to vindicate their right to recoup costs and attorneys fees incurred by reason of UDOT's attempts to expropriate their property rights without paying compensation. Despite its own regulation entitling property owners such as Appellants to the recovery of reasonable costs and expenses (including attorneys fees) incident to the settlement of inverse condemnation proceedings, UDOT has made every effort to avoid compensating *any* of the landowners along the Highway 89 corridor (including the named Appellants in this action) for attorneys fees necessarily incurred due to its own conduct.

The Appellants' problems began in 1996, when UDOT published an Environmental Impact Statement announcing that 136 homes and 22 businesses located along a proposed Highway 89 expansion corridor between South Ogden and Layton, Utah, would likely be impacted by future road expansion. This announcement promptly rendered the affected properties unmarketable – yet UDOT refused to acquire them, or to compensate the owners for its actions.

Numerous property owners (including Appellants) thereupon engaged legal counsel to pursue both judicial and legislative remedies. The result was a combination of lobbying before both the legislature and the Department of Transportation, and the filing of a Complaint before the Second Judicial District Court for Davis County, State of Utah, on behalf of all property owners within the affected corridor (proposed for certification as a class pursuant to Rule 23, Utah R. Civ. P.). Before the Davis County Court could rule upon certification of the class, however, UDOT negotiated a settlement in the Davis County action. The settlement, however, even though it named only four of the remaining nominal plaintiffs in the Davis County action, benefitted far more corridor residents and landowners than that – it resulted in the allocation of approximately \$10 million to compensate numerous property owners along the affected corridor, and established a compensation “matrix” for acquisition of properties and compensation of their owners, including the named Appellants in this proceeding.

The settlement, however, expressly reserved the question of the recoverability of attorneys fees – which UDOT continued to maintain it was not obligated to do for any affected property owner. In post-settlement proceedings, the Second District Court initially held that UDOT was not liable for attorneys fees to any property owner with whom UDOT had made settlement. The Utah Supreme Court reversed, however, holding that, pursuant to federal regulations expressly adopted by UDOT, attorneys fees were recoverable in

connection with the settlement effected in the Davis County proceeding. The case was remanded for a determination of reasonable attorneys fees.¹

UDOT then submitted a motion *in limine* in the Davis County action, asking the court to exclude evidence of any costs and attorneys fees incurred by any property owner not expressly named as a party plaintiff therein – including members of the putative class never accepted nor rejected in that action. The Davis County Court held that, as the class had not been certified, *it had no personal jurisdiction* over any property owner not named as a party plaintiff in that action, and could therefore award no attorneys fees therein except in favor of the named plaintiffs therein.

At this point, the Appellants (who had expressly entered into retainer agreements with legal counsel in connection with UDOT’s taking of their properties, but had been members of the proposed class in the Davis County proceeding, rather than individually-named plaintiffs therein) filed this action before the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, submitting themselves to the personal jurisdiction of that court for purposes of seeking an award of attorneys fees as provided by the Utah Supreme Court.

UDOT, though, moved to dismiss. UDOT’s argument, essentially, was that (1) the Appellants named in this action were not parties to a “proceeding” settled by UDOT in the Second District, and therefore have no claim for relief under the federal/state regulatory scheme; and (2) Appellants’ claims in this action are somehow barred by the doctrine of *res*

¹ *Robinson v. State*, 20 P. 3d 396 (Utah 2001).

judicata, or claim preclusion, due to the ruling issued in the Davis County action, even though it had expressly held that Appellants were not even parties thereto. The trial court agreed, holding that, if Appellants were not before the Second District Court, they were outside the scope of parties to a “proceeding” entitled to the recovery of fees by law, whereas if they *were* parties before the Second District Court, they are bound by *res judicata*.

In fact, the named Appellants herein have very much been a part of the “proceeding” leading up to the settlement entered into in the Davis County action, and are entitled to recovery of attorneys fees which they necessarily incurred incident thereto. The law recognizes the term “proceeding” to be a broad one, broader in its scope than the term “action.” Given the language, purpose, and policy underlying the regulatory scheme upon which Appellants (and all property owners in the affected corridor) rely in this matter, it is unreasonable to conclude that Appellants have not been a party to a judicial, legislative and administrative “proceeding” giving rise to the settlement of their grievance against UDOT, and thus their entitlement to attorneys fees. Even if the term “proceeding” is limited to the Davis County action, moreover, Appellants were part of the identified group offered for class certification therein, and thereby participated in that “proceeding.” Moreover, whether or not they were named as parties to the Second District Court action, Appellants herein incurred their attorneys fees “because of” that proceeding and incident to “a settlement” effectuated therein, thereby clearly qualifying under the express regulatory language.

Appellants' claims in this action are clearly not barred by the doctrine of *res judicata* or claim preclusion by reason of any order entered in the Davis County case. It is precisely because the Second District Court *declined* to exercise jurisdiction over them, and thus to rule on their petition, that Appellants have been compelled to file this action at all.

JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a final Order and Judgment of the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, The Honorable Sheila K. McCleve presiding, dismissing the lower court action under Rule 12(b)(6), Utah R. Civ. P., holding that Appellants' Complaint failed to state a claim for which relief may be granted.

Jurisdiction obtains pursuant to Section 78-2-2(3)(j), Utah Code Ann. 1953 (as amended). The appeal was referred to the Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(5), by order of referral dated January 20, 2004.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND STANDARD FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the lower court erred in finding that, as a matter of law, Appellants stated no claim for which relief could be granted to recover attorneys fees incident to UDOT's taking of their property pursuant to 49 C.F.R. Part 24.107 and Utah Admin. Code R933-1.

2. Whether the lower court erred in finding that, as a matter of law, Appellants' stated claim for relief against UDOT for recovery of costs and attorneys fees incident to

UDOT's taking of their property was barred under the doctrine of *res judicata*, or claim preclusion.

The standard of review for both issues before this Court is *de novo* review, the lower court having dismissed Appellants' claims as failing to state a claim for which relief may be granted under Rule 12(b)(6), Utah R. Civ. P. This Court is obliged to construe the Complaint in the light most favorable to Appellants, and to indulge all reasonable inferences in their favor. *Educators Mutual Insurance Association v. Allied Property & Casualty Insurance Company*, 890 P.2d 1029 (Utah 1995); *Prows v. State*, 822 P.2d 764 (Utah 1991); *Heiner v. S. J. Groves and Sons Company*, 790 P.2d 107 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

DETERMINATIVE CASE LAW AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

1. 49 C.F.R. Part 24.107:

The owner of the real property shall be reimbursed for any reasonable expenses, including reasonable attorney, appraisal, and engineering fees, which the owner actually incurred because of a condemnation proceeding, if:

- (a) the final judgment of the court is that the agency cannot acquire the real property by condemnation, or
- (b) the condemnation proceeding is abandoned by the agency other than under an agreed-upon settlement; or
- (c) the court having jurisdiction renders a judgment in favor of the owner in an inverse condemnation proceeding or the agency effects a settlement of such proceeding.

2. 42 U.S.C. § 4621(b):

This subchapter establishes a uniform policy for the fair and equitable treatment of persons displaced as a direct result of programs or projects

undertaken by a federal agency or with federal financial assistance. The primary purpose of this subchapter is to ensure that such persons shall not suffer disproportionate injuries as a result of programs and projects designed for the benefit of the public as a whole and to minimize the hardship of displacement on such persons.

3. Utah Admin. Code R933-1-1. Right of Way Acquisition Incorporation of Federal Publication.

The State of Utah incorporates by reference 49 CFR 24 as amended in the Federal Register, March 2, 1989, as its administrative rules on the acquisition of rights of way for federal-aid projects.

4. *Robinson, et al. v. Utah Department of Transportation*, 2001 UT 21, 20 P. 3d 396 (Utah 2001).
5. *Snyder v. Murray City Corporation*, 2003 UT 13, 471 Utah Adv. Rep. 5, 2003 Utah Lex. 34 (2003)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was filed on June 30, 2003, before the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, as the result of a ruling by The Honorable Glen R. Dawson of the Second Judicial District Court for Davis County, State of Utah, in the case of *Kay K. Robinson; Vane R. and Marilee L. Scadden; Benjamin E. and Le Joie Reichel, Plaintiffs, v. State of Utah and its Agency, The Utah Department of Transportation, Defendant*, Civil No. 970700484, that the named Appellants herein (all of them property owners who (1) retained the services of legal counsel incident to UDOT's taking of their property interests, and (2) as a direct and proximate result thereof, obtained settlements from UDOT of claims for inverse condemnation of their property) were not entitled to the recovery of any costs or

attorneys fees as part of the Second District Court action, they not having been expressly-named parties thereto) (R. 42-44). On July 1, 2003, UDOT filed a Motion to Dismiss Appellants' Complaint, arguing that (1) not having been named as parties to the Second District Court action, they were not part of a "proceeding," entitling them to recovery of attorneys fees under applicable federal and state law, and (2) their claim was, in any case, barred by the doctrine of *res judicata*, or claim preclusion.

By Order dated October 14, 2003, the trial court ruled that, if Appellants *were* properly parties to the Second District action, their claim for attorneys fees was barred by the doctrine of *res judicata*; if Appellants *were not* parties to the Second District Court action, they had no standing to seek attorneys fees under applicable law (R. 87-91). The lower court's ruling was memorialized in a Order of Dismissal signed December 12, 2003, and filed December 17, 2003 (R. 92-95). Appellants filed their notice of appeal from the lower court's Order on January 13, 2004 (R. 96-98).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On appeal from an order granting a motion to dismiss, this Court accepts as true all well-pleaded allegations of the Complaint, and opposes the trial court's ruling only if it clearly appears that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of its claim. *Prows v. State*, 822 P.2d 764 (Utah 1991); *Coleman v. Utah State Land Board*, 795 P.2d 622 (Utah 1990).

Accordingly, both the lower court's ruling and this Court's review thereof must accept the following facts, taken from Appellants' Complaint herein (R. 1-9):

1. During the early 1980's, the Utah Department of Transportation ("UDOT") determined that the Highway 89 corridor between Farmington and South Ogden needed significant expansion and improvements in order to increase public safety. After exploring potential alternatives and holding public meetings, UDOT planned and plotted a preferred route, as published in a required Environmental Impact Statement ("EIS"),² and alerted the public that 136 homes and 22 businesses, among other public properties, were to be affected. Appellants' properties were among those specifically identified by the EIS report.

2. After publication of the EIS, Appellants attempted to sell their properties, but were unable to obtain fair market value as a direct and proximate result of having been identified as an impacted property. Consequently, the value and marketability of all of the affected properties had been negatively impacted.

3. Appellants first requested that UDOT purchase the impacted properties for fair market value. UDOT denied the Appellants' request, indicating a lack of funding.

4. The Appellants' property had effectively been condemned or taken by UDOT's actions, without just compensation.

² This final draft of this report was issued on September 9, 1996, in compliance with the National Environmental Policy Act.

5. Appellants entered into various agreements with attorneys (collectively referred to as “Appellants’ Counsel”), to pursue, negotiate, resolve or litigate their claims of inverse condemnation and just compensation against UDOT.

6. In November 1997, the above-named Appellants, as interested or otherwise similarly situated parties (“Appellants”) participated in the filing of a Complaint (“Original Complaint”)³ in the Second Judicial District Court, Davis County, initiating an inverse condemnation claim against the State of Utah and its agency the Utah Department of Transportation (“UDOT”) regarding the expansion and improvements of U.S. Highway 89 (“Highway 89”) through Davis County.

7. Since being retained, Appellants’ counsel has expended significant time, efforts and costs for all Appellants, parties, and affected property owners interested or similarly situated by inverse condemnation of UDOT along Highway 89. Specifically, Appellants’ counsel engaged in extensive efforts to negotiate and litigate a settlement which included working with the Utah State Legislature to develop a fund for compensating the victims of the State’s condemnation acts, which resulted in approximately a \$10,000,000.00 (Ten Million Dollar) funding allocation to resolve the inverse condemnation proceeding.

8. Following the Legislature’s allocation of funds, UDOT had the necessary capital to begin settling its cases with the named Appellants and began to do so. Four of the

³ See *Robinson v. State of Utah* (Civil No. 970700484 Second Judicial District Court, Davis County, Judge Dawson).

parties originally named in the Original Complaint, entered into a stipulation to dismiss the original Complaint and settled, thus establishing a template for the Appellants in this case to obtain individual resolution of property valuation and payments for those amounts.

9. The Stipulation for Settlement left up to the court to decide the issue of Appellants' attorneys fees.

10. Subsequently, all of the above-named Appellants applied for, received benefits from, and ultimately settled any condemnation claim which they may have had against UDOT.

11. Appellants' counsel made a motion to assess attorneys fees and costs associated with the original Complaint against UDOT. Appellants' counsel was denied this request by The Honorable Judge Dawson of the Second Judicial District Court. This ruling however, was overturned by the Utah Supreme Court on March 6, 2001. The Court held therein that, "the Utah Administrative Code mandates an award of plaintiff's attorney's fees where UDOT settles the plaintiff's inverse condemnation action," and remanded the case for further proceedings.

12. On remand, pursuant to a Motion *in Limine*, Judge Dawson ruled on February 22, 2002, that he lacked personal jurisdiction over any of the Appellants named in this Complaint ("Second Complaint"), and could not receive evidence or make an award as to these Appellants requiring the above listed Appellants to file this separate action relative to their claim for reimbursement of attorneys fees.

13. The above-named Appellants, as owners of real property, contracted for attorney services, entering into signed contingent fee retainer agreements, received specific benefits of the \$10 million settlement, and consequently are under an obligation to pay a reasonable contingent attorneys fee as they became part of a class of beneficiaries of the original Complaint.

14. Having obligated themselves to the payment of attorneys fees for the settlement of their claims, Appellants have requested of UDOT to reimburse them for any reasonable expenses, including reasonable attorneys fees, as required by law. To date, UDOT has denied such request.

15. In addition to the above, some Appellants referenced above, were told by UDOT that they must first discharge their attorneys prior to UDOT's willingness to enter into a settlement negotiation and purchase their properties.

RELATED OR PRIOR APPEALS

There are no related or prior appeals relative to this action.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Supreme Court decision of *Robinson, et al. v. Utah Dept. of Transportation*, 2001 Utah 21, 20 P.3d 396 (Utah 2001), established the rights of Utah landowners forced to initiate "proceedings" in inverse condemnation to recover costs and attorneys fees from the condemning agency – this by reason of 49 C.F.R. Part 24.107, adopted wholesale by the Utah Department of Transportation and Utah Admin. Code R933-1. Appellants herein, while they

were never admitted as nominal parties to the Second District Court action, were nonetheless part of the “proceeding” settled by UDOT in Second District – (1) Appellants, no less than the named plaintiffs in the Second District action, retained counsel and were represented in resolution of claims represented in that action; (2) through their counsel, they participated in negotiation and resolution of claims as represented in that action; (3) all fees were incurred “because of” the Second District Court action; (4) the Second District Court action resulted in “a settlement”; and (5) Appellants actually petitioned for joinder in the Second District Court action (which, however, was settled as to all aspects with the exception of attorneys fees before the Motion to Amend was ruled upon).

The lower court improperly posited that Appellants herein may have been barred by the Second District Court ruling under doctrines of claim preclusion, or *res judicata*. The Second District Court’s ruling, however, made abundantly clear that the Appellants were *not* parties therein – the court’s ruling stated that, due to their status as non-parties, that court had no personal jurisdiction to make an award of attorneys fees.

The trial court’s assumption that Appellants were either not parties to the Second District Court action (and thus not entitled to fees under governing law), or *were* parties to that action and therefore barred by *res judicata*, misconstrues both the enabling statute and the doctrine of claim preclusion. Appellants are not, and cannot be, bound by the Second District Court ruling denying their application for attorneys fees, as that ruling was *based on* the proposition that they were non-parties, and therefore beyond the court’s personal

jurisdiction. To suggest that such exclusion likewise precludes Appellants from seeking recovery of attorneys fees expended incident to the overall “condemnation proceeding” (as defined under federal regulatory law), however, would create a meaningless distinction between the four parties selected as nominal plaintiffs in the Second District Court action, and the remaining parties positioned in exactly the same way, who had sought joinder in the Second District Court action prior to its settlement.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANTS HEREIN STATED A VALID CLAIM OF ENTITLEMENT OF RECOVERY OF ATTORNEYS FEES INCIDENT TO UDOT’S TAKING OF THEIR PROPERTY, PURSUANT TO 49 C.F.R. PART 24.107, AND UTAH ADMIN. CODE R933-1.

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