2004

K.J. Achter, Ruth Achter v. Utah Department of Transportation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Having been precluded from presenting evidence in the Second District Court as to attorneys fees for parties not named in the Robinson case, Plaintiffs’ counsel wants a second bite at the apple, resulting in this case.

On its face, the obvious first question is whether Plaintiffs’ claim even rises to the level of a regulatory inverse condemnation case, given that an EIS is part of the UDOT planning process, and mere planning in anticipation of condemnation, without more, does not constitute a taking.

However, that issue does not have to be decided, however, because the language of the regulation governing, upon which Plaintiffs rely, is so clear, and the cases deciding this issue are so consistently uniform, that the determination can easily be made that because the Plaintiffs in this action were never parties to an inverse condemnation lawsuit, they are not entitled to an award of attorneys fees.

ARGUMENT

I. DO THE FACTS EVEN WARRANT THE PLAINTIFFS' PROPERTY BEING A SUBJECT OF INVERSE CONDEMNATION?

Plaintiffs' entire case is based on the assumption that Plaintiffs' properties were the subject of an inverse condemnation by UDOT. Yet no court has made that determination and UDOT strenuously denies it. The question is, whether a 14-month lapse between the publication of the EIS and the filing of the lawsuit constitutes a sufficient delay to warrant a finding of inverse condemnation. But it is not necessary to answer that question given the language of the regulation upon which Plaintiffs rely and the cases interpreting that regulation, as set forth hereinafter.

Nonetheless, to put the matter in perspective, UDOT is a state agency responsible for the construction and maintenance of federal and state highways in the state of Utah. It engages in road widening on a continual basis and condemns approximately 1,200 to 1,300 parcels of property each year. All road construction or road widening cases using federal funds require the publication of an EIS prior to the commencement of construction. An EIS is part of the planning activities mandated by NEPA, which UDOT

is subject to following. The publication of an EIS is not a final decision by UDOT.

Based upon the EIS, UDOT may decide to alter a project, abandon it, or proceed. The EIS is just one step in the planning process for the widening of a highway.

The rule has long been established that mere planning in anticipation of condemnation does not, without more, constitute a taking.¹ The United States Supreme Court has explicitly held that pre-condemnation activities do not constitute takings. The Court has stated:

Appellants also claim that the city's precondemnation activities constitute a taking. The State Supreme Court correctly rejected the contention that the municipality's good-faith planning activities, which did not result in successful prosecution of an eminent domain claim, so burdened the appellants' enjoyment of their property as to constitute a taking. Even if the appellants' ability to sell their property was limited during the pendency of the condemnation proceeding, the appellants were free to sell or develop their property when the proceedings ended. *Mere fluctuations in value during the process of governmental decision making, absent extraordinary delay, are incidents of ownership. They cannot be considered as a taking in the constitutional sense.* (Emphasis added.)

Agin v. City of Tiburon, 447 U.S. 255, 263 n. 9 (1980) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). See also Danforth v. United States, 308 U.S. 271, 285, 60 S.Ct. 231, 84 L.Ed. 240 (1939) (stating that "[a] reduction or increase in the value of property . . . by reason of legislation for or the beginning or completion of a project" does not constitute a

¹See the annotation entitled "Plotting or Planning in Anticipation of Improvement as Taking or Damaging Property Affected," 37 A.L.R. 3d 127 (1971).

taking). The Supreme Court later cited Agins and Danforth with approval for the proposition that “depreciation in value of property by reason of preliminary activity is not chargeable to the government.” First English Evangelical Lutheran Church of Glendale v. County of Los Angeles, 482 U.S. 304, 320 (1987).

There is a long standing legal distinction between physical takings and regulatory takings. In the subject case, there was no physical taking of any of the property owners’ properties. There was only an identification that a potential taking was possible at some time in the future. Frankly, any property adjacent to a major thoroughfare is subject to a potential taking at some time in the future. Defendant does not question, though, that there became a cloud of uncertainty over the status of Plaintiffs’ properties once the EIS was published. But that happens every time government contemplates a project requiring condemnation.

Though not entirely analogous, the United States Supreme Court held in Tahoe-Sierra Preservation Council Inc., et. al. v. Tahoe Regional Planning Agency et. al., 535 U.S. 302 (2002), that a moratoria totaling 32 months, while the Regional Planning Agency formulated a comprehensive land use plan for the Lake Tahoe area, did not constitute a taking of the property owners’ property without just compensation. As the Court stated: “a rule that required compensation for every delay in the use of property would render routine government processes prohibitively expensive or encourage hasty decision making.” Id. at 343.

As Justice Holmes noted in Pennsylvania Co. v. Mahon, 260 U.S. 393 (1922)

“government hardly could go on if to some extent values incident to property could not be diminished without paying for every such change in the general law.” Id. at 413.

II. THE LANGUAGE OF 49 CFR 24.107 CLEARLY INDICATES THAT “PROCEEDING” MEANS LITIGATION AS THAT TERM IS USED IN THE REGULATION.

The basis of Plaintiffs’ claim for the award of attorneys fees is 49 CFR Part 24.107.² (Attached hereto as Exhibit D.) In its entirety, the regulation reads:

§ 24.107 Certain litigation expenses.³

The owner of the real property shall be reimbursed for any reasonable expenses, including reasonable attorney, appraisal, and engineering fees, which the owner actually incurred because of a condemnation proceeding, if:

(a) The *final judgment of the court* is that the Agency cannot acquire the real property by condemnation; or

(b) The condemnation proceeding is abandoned by the Agency other than under an agreed-upon settlement; or

(c) *The court having jurisdiction* renders a *judgment* in favor of the owner in an inverse condemnation *proceeding* or the Agency effects a settlement of *such* proceeding. (Emphasis added.)

²49 CFR § 24.107 has been adopted wholesale as part of UDOT’s state regulatory scheme, see Rule 933-1-1, Utah Admin. Code.

³Though not controlling, even the title of the regulation suggests that the reimbursement of attorneys fees are for “litigation expenses.”

Because a final judgment of the court was not rendered in the Robinson case and UDOT agency did not abandon the project, neither subsection (a) or (b) apply. However, subsection (c) would be applicable. According to subsection (c), an owner of real property can only recover attorneys fees if one of two outcomes occurs. First, the owner can recover attorneys fees if a court having jurisdiction over an inverse condemnation *proceeding* renders a judgment in favor of the owner. For a court to have jurisdiction over, or to render a judgment in a condemnation *proceeding*, that *proceeding* must be a lawsuit. Defendant cannot conceivably think of a situation in which a court would have jurisdiction over a matter that was not a lawsuit. Secondly, an owner can recover attorneys fees if the agency affects a settlement of *such* proceeding. “Such proceeding” inescapably refers to the “proceeding” previously mentioned – which proceeding is clearly a lawsuit because it is before a court.

The issue here is not what is the dictionary definition of “proceeding.” The question is how is that term used in the regulation. Plaintiffs want to say that the term “proceeding” has a broad definition in the law. Defendant does not dispute that point. But it goes without saying that for a court to have jurisdiction over a matter requires a lawsuit. Clearly “proceeding” in subsection (c) means litigation if the court is to have any jurisdiction at all.

Because the Second District Court never granted leave to amend Plaintiffs’ Complaint, and never certified the case as a class action, Plaintiffs in this case were not party plaintiffs in the Robinson case. Therefore, the Plaintiffs in this case have never

been parties to an inverse condemnation “proceeding” as that term is used in 49 CFR 24.107.

III. CASES INTERPRETING “PROCEEDING” UNDER 42 U.S.C.A. 4654(c) HOLD THAT PRE-LITIGATION ATTORNEY’S FEES ARE NOT RECOVERABLE.

Plaintiffs’ Brief takes the position that Defendants, by interpreting “proceeding” to mean a lawsuit, are defining the term too narrowly (Brief at 21), or being too “hyper-technical” (Brief at 15), or engaging in “procedural maneuvering” (Brief at 17). To support their position they cite a 1951 New Jersey case (interpreting a New Jersey statute), a 1913 Territory of Hawaii case (interpreting a Hawaii statute), and a 1980 Minnesota case (interpreting a Minnesota statute), none of which deal with 49 CFR § 24.107 or inverse condemnation (Plaintiffs’ Brief at 17).

Conversely, Defendants, in equating the term “proceeding” with an actual “lawsuit” or “action,” have relied upon court decisions dealing with inverse condemnation actions under § 4654(c) of the Uniform Relocation Property Acquisitions Act (“URA”).⁴ Section 4654(c) reads:

The *court rendering judgment* for the plaintiff in a *proceeding* brought under section 1346(a)(2) or 1491 of title 28, awarding compensation for the taking of property by a Federal agency, or the Attorney General effecting a settlement of any *such* proceeding, shall determine and award or allow to such plaintiff, as a part of such judgment or settlement, such sum as will in the opinion of the court or the Attorney General reimburse such plaintiff for his reasonable costs,

⁴ 42 U.S.C.A. 4601-4655.

disbursements, and expenses, including reasonable attorney, appraisal, and engineering fees, actually incurred because of *such proceeding*. (Emphasis added.)

The regulation found at 49 CFR § 24.107, which Plaintiffs rely upon for recovery of their fees, was enacted by the office of the Secretary of Transportation to comply with § 4654(c) of the URA. Court cases interpreting § 4654(c) of the URA, have unanimously held that pre-litigation expenses are not recoverable. As Plaintiffs note in their brief, “wholesale adoption, by one jurisdiction, of legislative language from another jurisdiction also presumptively adopts statements of underlying legislative purpose and judicial interpretations of legislative intent, see De Baritault v. Salt Lake City Corp., 913 P.2d 743 (Utah 1996); State v. Powasnik, 918 P.2d 146 (Utah App. 1996).” (Plaintiffs’ Brief at 16 n.5.)

In Swisher v. United States, plaintiffs petitioned under the URA to recover costs and attorney’s fees incurred for such litigation. 262 F. Supp. 2d. 1203, 1206 (D. Kan. 2003). Initially, plaintiffs’ counsel sought to bring a class action on behalf of several plaintiffs. Id. at 1209. However, the Court subsequently severed the claims of the original plaintiffs, leaving only the Swishers as parties to the action. The District Court held specifically that legal services rendered on behalf of clients prior to class certification could not be attributed to the claim later settled on behalf of the named clients. The Court reasoned that to be reasonable and hence recoverable, attorneys’ fees must “accurately reflect expenses attributable to plaintiffs’ counsel’s work on behalf of plaintiffs in this case.” Id. at 1210 (emphasis added). Therefore, the Court reasoned that although there

may be charges (incurred before the parties were severed) which would have been incurred had the named plaintiffs brought the instant action only, such charges should be reduced by one-ninth (the proportion of named to unnamed plaintiffs). *Id.* at 1209. The Court further stated that “pre-litigation expenses are precluded from reimbursement under 42 U.S.C. § 4654 (c),” (quoting *Emeny v. United States*, 526 F.2d 1121, 1124 (Ct. Cl. 1975)).

In a similar case, *City of Austin v. Travis County Landfill, Co.*, a landowner brought an action against the city, alleging that the city’s operation of civilian flights through his property’s airspace constituted a taking. 25 S.W.3d. 191, 194-97 (Tex. App. 1999) (*reversed on other grounds*). The Texas Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court, holding that there was a taking but that there was no statutory authority through which to award such fees because “[r]ecovery of attorneys’ fees is adverse to the common law and penal in nature, and statutes providing for such recovery must be strictly construed.” *Id.* at 201, 206. The Court reasoned that the “[URA] is a federal statute that provides for the recovery of *litigation* expenses, including attorney’s fees, by plaintiffs who *instigate* inverse condemnation proceedings under section 1346(a)(2) or 1491 of Title 28 of the United States Code.” *Id.* at 207 (emphasis added). Therefore, the Court pointed out, § 4654 provides authority for the award of expenses and attorney’s fees “in *actions* brought in either federal court or the Court of Federal Claims.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

In *Emeny v. United States*, owners of property sought to recover expenses incurred in an action which awarded them compensation for the United States’ storage of helium

in a structure located on their property. 526 F.2d 1121, 1123 (Ct. Cl. 1975). The United States Court of Claims held that the Plaintiffs were not entitled to recover costs and attorney fees incurred in ascertaining the nature and extent of their property rights in the gas storage capacity of the structure. Id. at 1124. The Court said that “the plain language of 42 U.S.C. § 4654 (c) precludes the court from including in its award to the plaintiffs any reimbursement for expenses incurred by the plaintiffs before they decided to file suit in the Court of Claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1491.” Id.

In Preseault v. United States, property owners petitioned for attorney’s fees and expenses pursuant to the URA after prevailing on a takings claim. 52 Fed. Cl. 667, 669-70 (2002). The Court held that “Section 4654(c) does not provide for the reimbursement of expenses incurred by plaintiffs before their decision to file suit in the Court of Federal Claims.” Id. at 671. The Court reasoned that “[l]ike the plaintiff who unsuccessfully attempts to negotiate a resolution of his controversy with the Government prior to bringing a takings claims, see Emeny, 526 F.2d at 1124, a plaintiff who seeks to reverse the taking on other grounds cannot recover compensation for expenses incurred to that end under the URA.” Id. at 672. The Court further reasoned that although it usually does not second-guess plaintiffs determination of what costs are reasonable, where a large proportion of the allowable fees are incurred after liability is determined and recovery under the URA is triggered, the Court cannot defer to the discipline of the market and must analyze such fees for reasonableness. See, id. at 680.

In Grantwood Village v. United States, a town which settled a suit it brought against the United States claiming that the National Trails System Act effected a taking from the town, requested expenses and attorney's fees for such litigation. 55 Fed. Cl. 481, 483 (2003). The Court held that the plaintiffs could not be reimbursed for costs associated with the quiet title action prior to filing their complaint, saying that "[o]nly those costs attributable to the litigation itself are compensable under the URA." Id. at 484-486. The Court further held that the "URA permits a plaintiff to be reimbursed for reasonable fees and costs which are 'actually incurred because of *such proceeding* [referring to the taking law suit]." Id. at 484 (citing 42 U.S.C. § 4654(c). The Court also noted that "[t]his can include expenses incurred in preparation of a complaint." Id. (citing Yancey v. United States, 915 F.2d 1534, 1543 (Fed. Cir. 1990).

In Yancey, turkey farmers filed suit for reimbursement of healthy turkey breeder stock which was sold at a reduction in value as a result of a quarantine imposed by USDA. 915 F.2d at 1536. The Court cited Emeny, 526 F.2d at 1124 for the proposition that "pre-litigation expenses are precluded from reimbursement under 42 U.S.C. § 4654(c)" and cited Clovenport Sand & Gravel Co. v. United States, 10 Cl. Ct. 121, 124 (1986) for the proposition that "'the significant effort expended' in 'the filing of the petition' may be compensable under the statute if proper documentation were provided." Id. at 1543.

Like most of the original plaintiffs in Swisher who were never certified as a class and therefore were not parties to the relevant proceeding, none of the Appellants were

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